IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

\$1D J. WHITE

APR **23** 1997'

SAMUEL FRANCIS WILLIAMS,

CLERK, SURREME COURT **Ohlef Deputy Clerk**

Appellant,

CASE NO. 88,745

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the record and transcripts in this brief will be designated with the prefix "R" and "T" respectively. The volume number will immediately follow the letter prefix. A colon will follow the volume number and page number references will follow the colon. An appendix to this brief is attached.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On January 27, 1995, an Okaloosa grand jury returned an indictment charging Samuel Francis Williams with first degree murder for the shooting death of Bobby L. Burke. (R 1:31) This case was consolidated with an information charging carrying a concealed firearm which had been filed on October 21, 1994. (R 1:1). The consolidated cases proceeded to a jury trial, which commenced on June 10, 1996. (T 7:1). The jury found Williams guilty of both charges on June 14, 1996. (R 5:862; T 12:1044)

The same jury reconvened on June 27, 1996, for the penalty phase of the trial. (T 13:1048-1218) After hearing additional evidence, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 8-4. (T 13:1217) (R 5:879)

Williams filed a motion for new trial on July 1, 1996. (R 5:881-885; T 14:1224-1269) The court denied the motion after an evidentiary hearing. (T 14:1268-1269)

Circuit Judge G. Robert Barron adjudged Williams guilty of both charges and sentenced him to death for the murder and five years for carrying a concealed firearm on August 6, 1996. (R 5:965-971, 974-977; T 6:998-1007) In sentencing Williams to death, the court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) Williams committed the homicide while under a sentence of imprisonment based on his escape from a juvenile commitment facility in Louisiana; and (2) the defendant committed the homicide for pecuniary gain. (R 5:974-975) In mitigation, the court found

one statutory mitigating circumstance and gave it substantial weight -- Williams was 18-years-old at the time of the offense. (R 5:975-976) Additionally, the court considered 11 nonstatutory mitigating circumstances the defense offered. (R 5:976-977)¹ The court rejected five of the nonstatutory mitigating factors. However, the court found the remaining six factors as nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: (1) Williams had no disciplinary problems while detained awaiting trial; (2) Williams obtained his GED while incarcerated; (3) Williams was capable of rehabilitation and living a productive life in prison; (4) Williams had been participating in weekly Bible study and meetings with a minister for spiritual guidance; (5) Williams intends to continue his religious studies and become involved in a prison ministry; (6) Williams has a capacity for work and when employed in the past was a good worker.

Williams filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court on August 12, 1996. (R 6:1026)

Statement of Facts -- Guilt Phase

Bobby Burke was shot and killed in the street in front of his home. Around 10:20 p.m., on September 27, 1994, Burke walked to the street to carry out the garbage and feed some stray cats a bowl of table scraps. (T 8:306-309) Freddie Burke, his wife, had walked to the bedroom to prepare for bed. (T 8:309) She heard a

¹ The sentencing order is five pages in length. However, only four record page number references were assigned to the order. Page Four of the sentencing order did not receive a record page number. A copy of the sentencing order is attached as an appendix to this brief.

series of fast popping noises like a string of firecrackers. (T 8:310) She walked from the bedroom to the front door to meet her husband, and looking through the glass of the storm door, she saw something in the road. (T 8:310) The street was illuminated by a street light in front of her house. (T 8:309-310) She realized her husband was lying in the road with his head facing toward the house and his feet in the direction of the other side of the street. (T 8:310-311) At first, she thought he might have had a heart attack, but then she saw blood on his white T-shirt. (T 8:311). She called for assistance. (T 8:311)

Mrs. Burke's stated that she and her husband had lived at their residence for almost 40 years. (T 8:312) In the last few years, the street in front of their house, Savage Street, had been used by people walking between two housing projects. (T 8:313) A foot trail began on the south side of their house and lead across the nearby railroad tracks. (T 8:320-325) The tracks were in a ravine about 15 feet deep below the level of Savage Street. (T 8:324-325)

Sgt. Wayne Grandstaff of the Crestview Police Department arrived on the scene at 10:22 p.m. (T 8:316-317). He found Mr. Burke still alive but with no pulse. (T 8:317) A firefighter, Sody Smallwood, provide emergency medical assistance. (T 8:333-336) He stated there was sufficient lighting in the area for him to work. (T 8:335) Smallwood also indicated that Burke's pockets did not appear tampered with in any way. (T 8:336) Mrs. Burke also stated that her husband was wearing pants, a T-shirt and bedroom slippers and did not have his wallet with him. (T 8:313-

314). He was wearing a wedding ring and a diamond ring, and both of those items were recovered from him. (T 8:314)

Dr. Edmund Kielman conducted the autopsy. (T 8:370). However, due to Kielman's illness, Dr. Charles McConnell testified about the autopsy. (T 8:366-377) The autopsy showed that Bobby Burke suffered eight bullet wounds. (T 8:371) Seven were to the chest, and one to the hand. (T 8:371) Two of the bullet wounds to the chest were lethal. (T 8:371) One penetrated the heart causing massive bleeding into the chest. (T 8:371-372) McConnell concluded that death would have occurred within three to five minutes due to the bleeding. (T 8:375) McConnell also concluded that for two of the shots, the muzzle of the gun would have been within about ten inches. (T 8:376-377)

Four witnesses testified they saw Sam Williams shortly before the homicide. (T 8:378, 388, 394; T 9:412) Erin Davis, Paula Wilcox, Tommy Alford, and Darren Smith were at Paula Wilcox's house on September 27, 1994. (T 8:379-380, 389, 395-397; T 9:414-416) Around 10:00 p.m., Sam Williams came to the residence. (T 8:380-381, 390, 396-397; T 9:415-416) During the ten or fifteen minutes that Sam was present, Darren Smith saw Sam in possession of a handgun. (T 9:416-417) Tommy Alford testified that he did not see Sam with a firearm. (T 9:397-400, 406-408) The prosecutor confronted Alford with grand jury and deposition testimony in which Alford said he saw Sam with the gun, but Alford testified that he did not remember such questions or answers. (T 8:398-400) Alford, on cross examination, confirmed that he had not seen Sam with a firearm. (T 9:406-408) Sam left

Paula Wilcox's house about 15 minutes after his arrival and walked up Savage Street. (T 8:385-386, 392, 400; T 9:417-419)

Paula Wilcox and Tommy Alford testified that as Sam left he said that he had "some business to take care of." (T 8:391-392, 397)

Erin Davis did not remember Sam making such a statement. (T 8:381-385)

Alford and Smith left the residence about five minutes after Sam and walked up Savage Street. (T 9:403, 419) Alford said that as he and Smith reached the top of the hill on Savage Street, he left Smith and ran back to the house to get his cigarettes. (T 9:403) Alford was gone less than five minutes, and as he started back up the hill, he met Smith running down the hill acting scared and hollering. (T 9:403-404) Smith told him that Sam shot someone. (T 9:405) Alford said that he and Smith continued to a friend's house to borrow a board game. (T 9:405, 410) Alford also said that he heard the gunshots. (T 9:408-412) However, in previous statements, Alford had denied hearing gunshots. (T 9:408)

Darren Smith testified that he waited at the top of the hill on Savage Street while Alford returned to Paula's house for his cigarettes. (T 9:419) Although Smith is nearsighted, was not wearing his glasses, and the night was dark, he said he was able to see Sam Williams walking about a block and a half ahead of him on Savage Street. (T 9:419-420, 422-423, 437) Smith saw Mr. Burke at the street with cats around him and the garbage can. (T 9:421) He also observed Sam walk passed Mr. Burke's house and step into the trail located nearby. (T 9:420). According to

Smith, Sam then stepped back out of the trail, pulled a gun and fired. (T 9:421-422) Smith heard several shots. (T 9:422) After the shooting, Smith and Alford continued to a friend's house to get the board game. (T 9:423) On cross-examination, Smith admitted giving different statements during police interviews, (T 9:425-433), and to the grand jury. (T 9: 434-439) In one interview on September 28, 1994, Smith told the police that he and Alford were about halfway up the hill when they heard what sounded like firecrackers. (T 9:425) He did not tell the police officer anything about Sam during that interview. (T 9:425-426) He said he had no idea who might have shot Mr. Burke. (T 9:426) In a second interview on October 10, 1994, Smith told another detective that he could see Sam before he got to the top of the hill. (T 9:430) Also, when asked how he knew it was Sam who shot, Smith said that was his theory, that he was pretty sure it was Sam. (T 9:431-432) Later, Smith told the grand jury some different details. (T 9:434-435) Smith testified that he was upset with Sam Williams because Sam had had a sexual relationship with Smith's girlfriend. (T 9:416-417, 433, 443)

Shortly after the shooting, several witnesses saw Sam Williams at a beauty shop where some people were congregated. Nate Moorer testified that he was at Netta's Beauty Shop that night. (T 9:544, 551) He said there were several people there getting high. (T 9:552) He heard some gunshots from somewhere in the area and he dropped to the ground. (T 9:552-553) Moorer said two to five minutes after the gunshots, Sam Williams came walking to the group. (T 9:554) Sam was given a ride, but Moorer did not

remember if Sam asked for a ride. (T 9:555) The prosecutor confronted Moorer with his prior grand jury testimony on whether he later saw Sam and asked about the shooting, but Moorer said he did not remember the questions and answers from that testimony. (T 9:555-557) Moorer reiterated that he did not remember making a comment to that effect to police investigators. (T 9:557-575, 588-590)

Angenetta's beauty shop in the late evening hours of September 27, 1994. (T 9:599-600; T 10:603) Before they arrived at Netta's Beauty Shop, Hutchinson heard gunshots. (T 10:604) The shots sounded as if they were coming from across the railroad tracks. (T 10:604) They arrived at the beauty shop within a minute, Hutchinson's sister conversed with some of the people standing around the beauty shop, then they left. (T 10:605-606) Hutchinson said that Sam was dating her daughter, and he was frequently at her house. (T 9:600; T 10:608-611) She never saw him with a firearm while he was in her house. (T 10:611) Sam was at her house the night of the homicide, and he left walking sometime after 9:00 p.m. (T 10:608)

Tyrone Morris was at Netta's Beauty Shop around 10:00 p.m. on September 27, 1994. (T 10:620-622) He and a number of other people were getting high. (T 10:622) Morris heard gunshots, seven or eight shots coming from the directions of the woods and the railroad tracks. (T 10:622) This was the same area where Mr. Burke lived. (T 10:622-623) According to Morris, the shots sounded like a .22 caliber. (T 10:624) When Morris heard the

shots, he hit the ground for about ten seconds and got up again. (T 10:624) He said 10 to 20 seconds after he got up, he saw Sam Williams walking up. (T 10:624-625) Williams was running toward them, looking over his shoulder and was sweating. (T 10:626) Sam was about half a football field away when Morris first saw him. (T 10:626) Morris saw something tucked in Sam's pants which looked like the handle of a pistol. (T 10:627) Sam asked for a ride to Pensacola Hill. Morris did state there was some conversation after Sam was dropped off about Sam having shot someone. (T 10:628-629) Morris denied having said that when Sam came up he put his hands on top of the car and said to Nate Moorer, protect me. (T 10:628) Morris did admit that the statement appeared in the transcript of his grand jury testimony. (T 10:627-628)

Witnesses testified about alleged statements Sam Williams made to them about the shooting. Willie Mae Williams, who was staying at the Hutchinson residence where Sam Williams' girlfriend, Elizabeth Hutchinson, lived, testified that Sam awoke her at about 2:00 or 3:00 a.m. in the morning on September 28, 1994, and said the police were trying to pin a murder on him. (T 10:612-617) Williams acknowledged her grand jury testimony was correct where she had testified that Sam told her the police were trying to pin a murder on him, and he asked her to say that she did not know him. (T 10:616-617)

Clinton Dowling testified that he and Sam Williams had a sexual relationship in July of 1994. (T 10:654-656) He had known Sam since May of 1994. (T 10:655) Dowling said that Sam showed

him a dark-colored pistol in July and said that he was involved in a gang in the Crestview area. (T 10:657-658) He said to be a member of the gang he had to shoot someone and steal something of value. (T 10:657) Dowling said at a later time he went to Century to pick Sam up at the request of Barbara Williams and Shirley Jackson. (T 10:659-660) Sam stayed at Dowling's apartment. (T 10:661) Dowling talked to Sam about the murder of Bobby Burke. (T 10:661) The conversation lasted about three hours, and Sam ultimately admitted that he committed the murder. (T 10:661-Sam also told Dowling that the gun that 'he had earlier 662) possessed, he loaned to a friend. (T 10:662) According to Dowling, after Sam admitted shooting Bobby Burke, he threatened Dowling if Dowling told anyone. (T 10:663-664) On crossexamination, Dowling admitted that he badgered Williams into making the statement admitting to the shooting. (T 10:668-669)

Roman Johnson met Sam Williams while they were both incarcerated in the county jail. (T 10:677-678) Johnson said he had a conversation with Sam on October 7, 1994, about the murder of Bobby Burke. (T 10:678-680) Sam allegedly said that he went out to rob someone, he walked by a house and saw Mr. Burke. (T 10:679) He tried to rob Burke, but Burke 'bucked." (T 10:679) Johnson explained that to 'buck" means to resist. (T 10:679) Johnson said that Sam told him that he ran after the shooting, crossed the railroad tracks, and spent the night at Tezzie's house. (T 10:679) Sam allegedly sent someone to get the gun out of a crate. (T 10:679-680) Sam said that he was there on a weapons charge and that without the gun, the police did not have

a case. (T 10:680) On October 30, 1994, Johnson had another conversation with Sam about the murder. (T 10:680-681) At that time, Sam stated that the pistol used was a .22. (T 10:681-682) Johnson said he did not expect anything as a result of his agreeing to testify for the state. (T 10:682-683). Johnson said he had provided information in two other murder cases to the State Attorney's Office and FDLE, but he denied that he was anticipating any favorable treatment for that information. (T 10:702-704)

Darrell Barge was confined in the Okaloosa County Jail in December of 1994, and became acquainted with Sam Williams. (T 10:710-712) Barge testified that Williams told him that he was accused of murder, although he never said that he murdered anybody. (T 10:712-715) Williams did say that after he came to Crestview, he shot someone with intent to rob him. (T 10:712, 716)

John Russell was incarcerated in the Okaloosa County Jail with Sam Williams. (T 10:717-718) Russell testified that Williams told him that he was in the area the night the man was murdered. (T 10:719) Williams allegedly said he was in the area looking for someone to rob, but he did not do the murder. (T 10:719) Williams did not tell Russell anything about a gun. (T 10:719) However, Russell overheard Williams tell someone else that they had no case because his girlfriend had the gun. (T 10:719) Williams indicated that his girlfriend was supposed to get rid of the gun. (T 10:720) Williams also related that he carried a gun on the streets everyday, but he did not say what

type of gun. (T 10:721-722) Russell admitted that he and Williams had gotten into a fight in the cell one day, and they were upset with each other. (T 10:723-726)

Mark Penny was a correctional officer at the Okaloosa County Jail where Williams was incarcerated pending trial. (T 10:736-738) Penny was working with a nurse who was in the maximum security area handing out medication. (T 10:738) Penny overheard a conversation as Williams was talking to Thomas Miller, another inmate. (T 10:738) Penny wrote a report about what he heard. (T Penny heard Williams say that he shot someone. (T 10:739) 10:740) When Penny got onto the cat walk, the conversation stopped. (T 10:740) The conversation began again, and Penny heard Williams state that he had been interviewed about the shooting; he had been called up front to see his attorney. (T 10:741) Williams said something about someone else having done the shooting. (T 10:741) He said an individual by the name of Darnell or Donnell had done the shooting. (T 10:742)

Mike Fuhrman, a newspaper reporter for the Northwest Florida Daily News, interviewed Sam Williams on November 13, 1994. (T 11:809-826) Williams said that he was walking south on North Savage Street and walked passed Burke's house. (T 11:827) Williams said he had crossed the dirt road adjacent to the railroad tracks and crossed the railroad tracks when he heard several gunshots. (T 11:827) Williams was scared and he ran. (T 11:827)

Lt. Worley of the Crestview Police Department interviewed the Williams on October 3, 1994. (T 11:828, 832) During the interview, Worley played a portion of an interview with Darren

Smith, where he identified Williams as the perpetrator. (T 11:834-835) Williams, at that point, changed his original statement and said he was in the area of the victim's house at the time of the shooting. (T 11:835) Williams said he walked passed the Burke residence, crossed the cut-through trail across the railroad tracks and was climbing up the other side when he heard three slow gunshots followed by several fast ones. (T 11:835) He said he could see and hear Darren Smith, and it was Smith who actually committed the murder. (T 11:835) Williams said he was on the embankment on the south side of the railroad tracks at the time. (T 11:835-836) Worley conducted another interview on October 21, 1994. (T 11: 838-839) At that time, Worley informed Williams that a witness said that he had put a qun in a box. (T 11:839) Williams responded, 'I don't know anything about a Pepsi box." (T 11:839) Worley said the Pepsi box statement was significant because no one had said anything about a Pepsi box. (T 11:839) Worley said he proceeded to look for a Pepsi box and found one in a vacant house on Railroad Avenue. (T 11:839-841) The vacant house is on a route between the railroad trail and Netta's Beauty Shop. (T 11:841) Worley found no firearm in the box. (T 11:841-842)

Three witnesses testified they saw Sam Williams with a pistol during the summer of 1994. Kenneth Bembo had a birthday party on August 27, 1994. (T 9:492-494) He saw Sam Williams in possession of a black pistol at the party. (T 9:495-497) He testified it was a revolver, but when confronted with his grand jury testimony in which he had stated that Sam took the clip out

of the pistol, he changed his testimony and acknowledged it was a semi-automatic. (T 9:497-498) Bembo said there were 12 to 15 people at the party, and a number of people were handling the pistol. (T 9:501-502) Bembo did not handle the gun himself. (T 9:502) Brian Pate was at the party, and he also saw Sam with a firearm. (T 9:478-481) Pate said other people were also holding the gun at the party, and he described the gun as a revolver, not an automatic. (T 9:487) Pate admitted on cross-examination that he wrote a letter stating he had seen Sam with a gun in order to possibly secure help on his own charges; the State was seeking to sentence as an habitual felony offender. (T 9:488-489) The State called Nate Moorer and attempted to elicit information about his having seen Sam with a firearm at Bembo's party. (T 9:544-549) However, when confronted with prior statements he had made to that effect, he testified that he did not remember making the statements. (T 9:544-549) Gearlnette Johnson testified she saw Sam at her mother's house in the summer of 1994 with a black gun. (T 9:514-517) The qun was an automatic. (T 9:517) She admitted on cross-examination that she had confrontations with Sam in the past, and at one time, she threatened to call the police on him. (T 9:520)

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