FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JUL 25 19971

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ohlef Depety Clerk

SAMUEL FRANCIS WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

Case #: 88,745

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0471852

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) **488-0600**

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

> A narrow focus on the question of whether or not a given defendant "intended to kill," however, is a highly unsatisfactory means of definitively distinguishing the most culpable and dangerous of murderers. Many who intend to, and do, kill are not criminally liable at all -- those who act in self-defense or with other justification or excuse. Other intentional homicides, though criminal, are often felt undeserving of the death penalty -those that are the result of provocation. On the other hand, some nonintentional murderers may be among the most dangerous and inhumane of all -- the

person who tortures another not caring whether the victim lives or dies, or the robber who shoots someone in the course of the robbery, utterly indifferent to the fact that the desire to rob may have the unintended consequence of killing the victim as well as taking the victim's property. This reckless indifference to the value of human life may be every bit as shocking to the moral sense as an 'intent to kill.' Indeed, it is for this very reason that the common law and modern criminal codes alike have classified behavior such as occurred in this case along with intentional murders.

Tison, supra, 481 U.S. at 157. Williams' "reckless indifference to the value of [Mr. Burke's] life" is rendered even more morally outrageous when one considers that he killed Mr. Burke so he could join a local *gang*.²⁵

It is the State's position that the two aggravating circumstances found by the trial court in this cause outweighed the mitigation presented by Williams. Further, even if the aggravator Williams challenges is invalid, without admitting as much, given the totality of the circumstances, including a potential third aggravator, death is proportionate in this cause. See, Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990). Mr. Burke was gunned down in front of his home while taking out the garbage and feeding some stray cats prior to retiring for the night. Williams shot him at least 8 times, once in the back, on his alleged pretext that Mr.

²⁵As previously delineated, a new aggravator was created, effective October 1, 1996, s. 921.141(5)(n): "The capital felony was committed by a *criminal street gang member*"

Burke resisted his robbery attempt. However, the evidence was clear Mr. Burke had no money on him and he was unarmed.

It can be reasonably inferred from the evidence that Williams' real motivation for the murder was his desire to make a name for himself so he could pass some initiation right for gang membership. If such were the case, the aggravating circumstance cold, calculated and premeditated would arguably apply, given the fact that Williams told Clinton Dowling about the gang at least two months before the murder (X 656-57).²⁶ Based on the totality of the circumstances, the State respectfully submits, this cause is analogous to *Bonifay v. State, 680 so.* 2d 413 (Fla. 1996). Williams' mitigation was affored the appropriate weight by the trial court as well as the jury, and both determined that the

²⁶The State's argument for CCP to the trial court prior to the Penalty Phase was that Williams' told:

> one . . . of the witnesses [Clinton Dowling] that he was gang-associated and in order to be a member of the gang you have to shoot somebody and steal something of value. I ... would say there is sufficient evidence there for the jury to consider whether or not this defendant had about a month to think about whether or not he was going to go out and shoot somebody, and the evidence is clear that he did, in fact, shoot and kill the victim in this case and therefore he had time to reflect about shooting and stealing something of value, that there's sufficient evidence before the jury for the State to argue the CCP aggravator . . . (XIII 1065)

However, the trial court found "there is insufficient evidence to support the CCP aggravator." (XIII 1066) Again, the *criminal* gang member aggravator was not available to the State at that time. aggravation outweighed the mitigation surrounding Mr., Burke's murder. Id. (decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established, and the weight to be given to it if it is established, are matters within the trial court's discretion); Fotopolous v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 792 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 2377 (1993), citing Sochor v. Florida, U.S. 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2122, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992) ("...[W]e can presume that the jury disregarded the factor[s] not supported by the evidence."). Death is a proportionate sentence.

ISSUE III

WILLIAMS DID NOT OBJECT TO THE ALLEGED IMPROPER PROSECUTORIAL COMMENTS DURING VOIR DIRE, WHICH DEPRIVED THE TRIAL COURT OF THE OPPORTUNITY TO CORRECT ANY POTENTIAL ERROR, AND ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Williams argues at p.36 of his initial brief that the prosecutor made improper comments during voir dire [and closing argument], in which he told the prospective jurors of four out of [nine] groups that were individually voir dired in chambers they were required to return a death recommendation if the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating ones (VII 91, 158, 194-95; VIII 227-231; XIII 1200-01).²⁷ However, he concedes "defense counsel did not specifically object to these comments." The State respectfully submits Williams' third claim is procedurally barred.

"The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks." *Duest v. State*, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985). "A failure to object to improper prosecutorial comment will preclude review, unless the comments were so prejudicial as to constitute fundamental error." *Pacific0 v. State*, 661 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Accord, Pangburn v. *State*, 661 So.2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 1995); *Suggs v. State*, 644 So.2d 64, 68 (Fla. 1994); *Wyatt v. State*, 641 So. 2d 355, 359 (Fla.

²⁷Williams says four out of seven groups. The State's reading of the record is that nine groups were formed (VII 78-86).

1994). Fundamental error exists only if any "error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." *State v. Murray*, 443 So. 2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984).

Williams correctly observes that it was improper for the prosecutor to comment as he did during voir dire based upon this Court's holding in *Henyard v. State*, 689 So.2d 239, 250 (Fla. 1996): "In this case, we agree with Henyard that the prosecutor's comments that jurors must recommend death when aggravating circumstances outweigh mitigating circumstances were misstatements of law." However, this Court further held: "But, contrary to Henyard's assertions, (footnote omitted) we do not find that he was prejudiced by this error." *Id.* at 250. It is the State's position that Williams was not prejudiced by this error either.

Had Williams voiced contemporaneous objections to each complained of comment, the trial court would have been afforded the opportunity to rectify the problem by ordering the prosecutor to rephrase his comment. That a contemporaneous objection could have cured what this Court has determined is a misstatement of the law, is reflected in the following exchange occurring during the defense voir dire directly after the prosecutor's first comment:

AMMON (Defense): Do you all understand that if Sam Williams is convicted of first degree murder that the only sentencing alternatives are either death or *life* **in prison**: Those are the two alternatives.

ALL JURORS: Yes. MURRAY (Prosecutor): Judge, can I be heard for

just a minute? I believe this was prior to the enactment of the statute, and I think it's life with a minimum mandatory of twenty-five as opposed to natural life. This is a 1994 case.

COURT: Oh, '94?

MURRAY: Yes, sir. I know Mr. Ammon is not misleading, but I don't want the jurors to be misled. I think this is life with a minimum mandatory twenty-five. (VII 96-97)

The trial court recognized the State was correct, and instructed the jury that life meant "life in prison without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years," to which the defense agreed (VII 97). If Williams had objected to the prosecutor's commen-ts, they could have been dealt with in similar fashion. His failure to do so constitutes a procedural bar to his third claim, and *Henyard* v. *State*, *supra*, demonstrates that these comments are not per *se* fundamental error.

The State will not include each complained of remark, such was sufficiently accomplished by Williams in his initial brief at pp.37-41. The State does take exception with Williams' assertion at p. 39 that "the court improperly confirmed the prosecutor's misstatement of the law as a correct statement." Seen in context, the trial court was trying to determine if Ms. Rogers and Ms. Kozar *could set aside their personal views against the death penalty* and vote for death if the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances, which is the law, not that they must vote for death as presented by Williams in his brief:

COURT: Now, assuming that you are in that penalty phase, okay, and assuming that you hear evidence that you feel that the aggravating factors in this case outweigh the mitigating factors, can you vote for the death penalty, yes ox no?

ROGERS: In theory I believe in the death penalty, but when it gets right down to it, I'm not sure that I can say that in all honesty.

COURT: Well, I don't want to embarrass you or hurt your feelings in any way, but let me tell you this. The words I'm not sure, I think so or maybe or perhaps, they --

ROGERS: -- They don't count.

COURT: They don't count. We spend a lot of time in these proceedings getting through words such as that, so --

ROGERS: -- Okay, I would have to weigh the mitigating, and the other the thing I would have to weigh, and it would have to be very strong, because I do fundamentally, you know, theoretically believe in the death penalty.

COURT: Well, I think to be fair to both sides, and that's what we're looking for in this case is jurors that tell us, yes, if I find a defendant guilty in a case such as this, then I can go in there, and I can listen to appravating factors and and if I find mitigating factors, that the aggravating factors justify the death penalty, and the mitigating factors don't mitigate it down below the death penalty, then I'll vote for the death On the other hand, you know, a juror penalty. says, well, I'll listen to it, and if I think the mitigating factors outweigh the aggravating factors, I'll vote for the life sentence. We understand that some people have a very very tough time voting for the death penalty in a case, just as Miss Kozar there sitting there to your left has indicated. In all murder cases she'd have a hard time voting for anything other than the death penalty. Well, that's what we're really getting at I need you to try to answer for us as right here. she has. Do you feel like that in most first degree murder cases that you'd vote for a life sentence over a death penalty without regard to aggravating and mitigating factors?

KOZAR: I guess I can't say no, because I would have to hear -- 1 think the death penalty should only be used in very, very extreme murder case. I don't think I should be used maybe as frequently as it is. Yes, I could vote for the death penalty if the evidence was strong enough, if the mitigating factors didn't -- but it would have to be very very strong.

COURT: Let me go through it one more direction. There's no instruction that this Court's going to give you that says that it has to be very, very There's no instruction. strong. such The instructions that I'm going to give you as a juror are that you must follow the law, and in order to be on this jury, you must agree to follow the law. The law is as we have explained it to you. There's nothing in any of the instructions that's going to say that your feelings must be very, very strong. That's not part of the legal instructions you'll receive.

KOZAR: Well, okay, I should rephrase that and say -- I'm sorry, I have difficulty with this.

COURT: If you feel like that you can't honestly follow the law as it's spelled out and vote for a death penalty in a murder case, there's nothing wrong with you telling us that. That's where we want to try to get with the questions.

KOZAR: *I probably couldn't*. I said probably again. Okay, no, that's it.

COURT: You couldn't vote for the death penalty in following the instructions the Court will give you as we have explained it to you. Is that your answer to that question?

KOZAR: Yes. (VIII 228-231)

Clearly, the trial court was trying to determine if the

prospective jurors could follow the law pursuant to its instructions. As this Court is aware, jurors whose views on the death penalty would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with [their] instructions and [their] oath," are subject to be stricken for cause. See, Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 165 (1986); Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 142 (1985); Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38 (1980).

The trial court's reference to the instructions as they were explained to the prospective jurors, relates to the preliminary instructions he provided at the outset of the general vdir dire, which included the following correct statement of the law concerning the weighing of aggravators and mitigators:

> If, in the guilt phase of the trial the defendant is found guilty of first degree murder, there are two possible penalties or onlv punishment alternatives. The first alternative is death. The second alternative is life without the possibility of parole. The law requires that in cases of first degree murder, the death penalty is reserved for cases with those very special sufficient aggxavating circumstances to justify the imposition of a penalty of death, and without sufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist. It is the burden of the state to present evidence in that phase of trial of second the aggravating circumstances, and each aggravating circumstance presented by the state in the second phase of the trial must be established beyond a reasonable doubt. The defense may, if they choose, present evidence of mitigating circumstances. A mitigating circumstance need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt by the defendant. If you are reasonably convinced that a mitigating circumstance exists, then you can consider it as established. (VII 13-14)

Further, the jury was correctly instructed upon the law during the penalty phase charge (XIII 1211-14).

As previously delineated, the circumstances of this cause are analogous to those in *Henyard* v. State, *supra*, at 250:

But, contrary to Henyard's assertions, (footnote omitted) we do not find that he was prejudiced by this Initially, we note error. the comments occurred on only three occasions during an Moreover, the extensive jury selection process. misstatement was not repeated by the trial court when instructing the jury prior to the penalty In fact, the jury was advised phase deliberations. that the statements of the prosecutor and defense lawyer were not to be treated as the law or the evidence upon which a decision was to be based. Further, Henyard does not contend that the making an advisory sentence recommendation in the penalty phase of his trial. In this context, we find the prosecutor's isolated misstatement during jurv selection to be harmless error. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

The comments in this cause were made on only four occasions. The only difference between *Henyard* and this cause is that a comment was also made during closing argument. None of the comments were objected to. The trial court in this cause did not repeat the misstatement while instructing the jury prior to penalty phase deliberations (XIII 1211-1214). As in *Henyard*, the jury was instructed that statements of the prosecutor and defense lawyer were not to be treated as the law or the evidence upon which a decision was to be based (VIII 253; XI 929; XII 1036; XIII 1212-13). Williams does not argue that the jury was improperly instructed before delivering its advisory recommendation during the

70

penalty phase of his trial. Rather, he argues at p.42 of his brief that the taint of the prosecutor's unchallenged comments was not removed by the standard instructions. Therefore, the prosecutor's comments were harmless error. *Henyard v. State, supra,* at 250; *State v. DiGuilio, supra.*

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, authorities and reasoning, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to affirm Samuel Francis Williams' convictions and sentences.